The Old Courthouse Sundial

The sundial located in the southeastern courtyatideoOld Courthouse is the only surviving
original landscape feature of the building datingre 19" century. The sundial was placed in
1859, before the building was completed, and hasmgeen moved from its original location.
The sundial was fabricated by artisans workindnatS3t. Louis arsenal on South Broadway from
spare ordnance materials. A second sundial wadalsicated and placed on the grounds of the
arsenal later in 1859. This sundial also survives.

In 1958 a major effort was undertaken to restoeeQld Courthouse sundial, particularly the
limestone base, which had deteriorated greatlythait time the original base was removed and a
new one was fabricated of concrete. The castpeatestal of the sundial is so deeply embedded
in the earth that the sundial was not moved dutiigyprocess. Photographs taken of the sundial
at that time indicate that the hinge mechanism heae been broken at some point prior to

1958, and this was also repaired.

After a major construction project in the southeamstrtyard to fabricate accessible ramps for the
Old Courthouse, a second restoration effort wasa&br in 2017, and will involve sandblasting
and properly painting the cast iron pedestal ofstinadial.



The following are excerpts from the St. Louis Cqu@burt Records of 1858-1859. Other than
casual mentions of the sundial as existing withend¢ourthouse landscape, no further
information in these records details the life ¢f gundial after 1859. As the builders and owners
of the Courthouse, the St. Louis County governmiéanbugh their court, monitored construction
and repair to the Old Courthouse between 1839 8iid.1

November 4, 1858

Ordered by the Court that the County Engineer peeand cause to be set up or placed within
the Court House Square on the South East Cornexahe suitable dial or plate to show the hour
by Sun and Shadow. And as the Court entertainghadpinion of, and great confidence in the
attainments Skill and experience in the walks aéfee of Major W H Bell, of the Army of the
United States, and now Stationed at the Arsenial titerefore further Ordered that the said
County Engineer for and in behalf of the CountysbfLouis respectfully request Major Bell to
superintend and overlook the construction andreetip the dial or plate aforesdid.

! Maj. William H. Bell's command of the Federal St. Louis Arsenadddrom 1840 until 1861. He was a graduate
of the U.S. Military Academy at West Point in 1828is administration was uneventful until the adveithe Civil
War. In 1861, with secession of many of the sautlséates and looming conflict, the arsenal coutstit an
important warehouse of arms and ammunition that bates wanted to possess. Within these buildinge were
stored 60,000 stand of arms (mostly Enfield andnfield rifle muskets), 1,500,000 ball cartridgesyeral field
pieces and siege guns, a large amount of machimegveral shops, and munitions of war in abundahcehe
main magazine there were 90,000 pounds of gunpowdeéraled Harpers Ferry as a major installatodri-ederal
munitions and supply.

“Missouri State Militia Brigadier General Danieldat visited the St. Louis Arsenal on January 2dth t
speak with its commander, Major William H. Bell.elBwas a North Carolina native who was sympathetithe
Southern cause. Frost described the results ah#éeting to the Governor of Missouri, Claiborne Baxkson, in a
note:

| have just returned fromthe arsenal . . . | found the Major everything that you or | could desire. He
assured me that he considered that Missouri had, whenever the time came, aright to claimit [the arsenal] asbeing
on her soil. He asserted his determination to defend it against any and all irresponsible mobs, come from whence
they might, but at the same time gave me to under stand that he would not attempt any defense against the proper
Sate authorities. . . In aword, the Major iswith us, where he ought to be.

Thisarsenal, if properly looked after, will be everything to our State, and | intend to look after it; very
quietly, however.

Shortly after this letter was written, Bell's congitly with the secessionists was disclosed to Arm
Headquarters in Washington, and Bell was orderdzttmansferred to the East Coast. Since he Hastamtial
property interests in the St. Louis area, he clhosesign from the army and retired to his farnstnCharles
County. [James Peckhaf@en. Nathaniel Lyon and Missouri in 1861: A Monograph of the Great Rebellion (New
York: American News Company, 1866), p. 43-45; RoBalius Rombaueithe Union Causein S. Louisin 1861
(St. Louis: Press of Nixon-Jones Printing Compd®9), p. 142-143The War of the Rebellion, Series 1, Vol.
LI, pp. 484-483].

“The United States War Department kept hearing msmbplans to seize the arms at the St. Louis Wake
On January 26th, General-in-Chief Winfield Scothitdd States Army, had his Adjutant-General seafftiiowing
telegram to the U.S. Commander of the DepartmetiteofVest, Brigadier-General William Harne3ive
particular attention to the safety of the Saint Louis Arsenal, and for that purpose call to the arsenal any part or the
whol e of the recruits from Jeffer son Barracks.

“On January 29th, Harney would have a messengéts&maptain Nathaniel Lyon in command at Fort
Scott, KansasRepair forthwith with your command to Saint Louis Arsenal.

“Major Bell was removed from command of the Arseaadl replaced by Major Peter V. Hagner, who
assumed command on Januar{},2#861.” [Thomas Loundes Snedthe Fight for Missouri (New York: Charles
Scribners Sons, 1886), p. 117]



(St. Louis County Court Records, Book 9, Page 54)

April 30, 1859

1. William H. Bell the producer of this Sun Diakaghat this instrument be placed in the
hands of a qualified Officer in order to insure iagaany form of damage.

A) Upon examination the author asks that he recpayment for Contracted work.

2 Iltem: Placed to be set at Noon and on any déyeoiveek to be fair at Meridian.

3 Position: Placed in said position for readingt tihe Sun will so strike this Instrument at
the appointed hour each day without the chanceéad®ws from other Blds. Causing any
obstruction.

4 Construction: Brass, Iron, Lead with a Limestémendation and coping.

A) Cast Iron hollow Shaft.
B) x inch exterior diameter
C) 7 feet in Length

5 MERIDIAN PLATE: Gives the Length, Width and algee Mineral.

6 MERIDIAN LINE: Drawn and cut with the aid of aiameter, to help the accuracy be
as xxx perfect as possible.

7 DIAL PLATE: Mineral; Diameter; Security; Purpoaad also Imperceptible motion
Correction.

8 GRADUATION OF THE DIAL PLATE: Sum of all of theneasurements; Also the
calculation of all of the angles which might tedout this instrument out of Commission.

9 DIAL COVER: Mineral, Type; Security; Purpose; €yng Position and reason for this
new type of cover on this particular instrument.

10 SCIA CHRONOMETER: Use for the setting of then&iPieces at the Meridian,
Explanation the necessity of the Construction.

(County Court Records; JNEM Archives 30 April, 1859)

4 May 1859 -The Court appoint Benj. F. Crain SuperintendenthefCounty Sun Dial.
(St. Louis County Court Records, Book 9, Page 101).

Locke R H for Sixty one 20/100 Dollars on a/c ohddial.
(St. Louis County Court Records, Book 9, Page 108).

May 24, 1859

Shaw Jno. for Seven hundred Twenty r86800 Dollars on a/c of Court House & Sun Dial
$34.00

(St. Louis County Court Records, Book 9, Page 117).

May 25, 1859
Kingsland & Ferguson for Four hundred Ninety 72/D8)lars on a/c of Sun Dial.
(St. Louis County Court Records, Book 9, Page 93).

June 8, 1859
McMurray & Co. for Four hundred Sixteen 71/100 [@eodl on a/c of Court House 282.19, Sun
Dial 127.52, Jail 4.50, County Farm 2.50.



(St. Louis County Court Records, Book 9, Page 125).

factory buildings.

2 This expense may have been for the fence surrogrdsundial, as the McMurray firm was a business
specializing in iron castings; they were well-knofentheir iron fences and gates. The firm hadedarot of work
on the Old Courthouse during the expansion of 8&0§; see the “Contract for a Wrought Iron Roothv@ast Iron
Footings, West Wing of the Courthouse, July 17,6185 the collection of contracts for the Old Chrtise,
Jefferson National Expansion Memorial Archives.
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and Pawly Ornamental Fences (Miésduri H'irét()‘ry

Museum).

July 25, 1859
Griffith Jno. for One hundred Sixty fo@0/100 Dollars on a/c of Court House & Sun Dial.
(St. Louis County Court Records, Book 9, Page 138).

The St. Louis Arsenal Sundial — Sister of the Old @urthouse Sundial
http://sundials.org/index.php/component/sundialsidial/847

The sun dial and the surrounding fence were fataithy arsenal personnel and dedicated on
December 12, 1859. It displays the range of skilisractical arts and sciences possessed by

arsenal craftsmen. Created entirely from sparaande materials, the sun dial was a

scientifically precise instrument, measuring 1/ggin diameter. It was used for many years as
the definitive chronometer of the arsenal. Engrayeeoh it was the poem “The Bird of Liberty,”
reflecting the patriotic fervor of the day. Althduthe brass face has been much worn by years of
polishing and weathering, many details of its avajiornate engraving are still visible. The fence

pickets are musket barrels; the corner posts aadl sannons.
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It should slso be noted there 1s on the parade grounds aof this
site a wery fine sundial, made and emplaced in 1859. This dial
i 'prabably one of the few remaining exampies of this type of
art. An artiele was written about this sundial entitied "Sun-
dials"™, ny Terry B. Merton., and was published in the Historic
Preservation magazine in 1961, Vol 13, Issue Mo 1, Pgs 30-34.



